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Comcast Corporation and Comcast Cable Communications, LLC

hereby submit this memorandum in support of their Motion to Dismiss the claims of Plaintiff

Mounang Patel Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6).1

I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff alleges that Comcast Cable improperly checked his credit when he signed up for

Internet and Cable service. From that core allegation he has filed a putative class action

asserting claims for violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act

, 15 U.S.C. § 1681q, breach of contract, promissory estoppel, and unjust enrichment.

His claims fail as a matter of law and should be dismissed.

First he has alleged no facts

whatsoever regarding its conduct. Nor could he have, as Comcast Corporation is a holding

company that does not itself market or provide cable services or equipment. Indeed, it is clear

from his own pleading that Comcast Corporation has no relevant connection to his claims other

than its ownership of Comcast Cable. It follows that his claims against Comcast Corporation

should be d otherwise had some merit.

Second, claims do not, in fact, have any merit

claim under the FCRA, he does not even identify the reason that Comcast Cable allegedly gave

to a consumer reporting agency in order to obtain his credit information, let alone explain how

that reason was a pretense That does not satisfy even the general pleading standard of

Rule 8, much less the heightened standard of Rule 9 that applies to claims that sound in fraud.

And as for s state law claims, they fail as well because: (i) his breach of contract claim

1 Although Defendants have filed this Motion now as required by Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(a)(1), they have also moved to reassign this action pursuant to Local Rule 40.4
because intertwined with another putative class action that is pending in
this Court. See Santangelo v. Comcast Corp., No. 15-0293 (N.D. Ill.) (Lee, J.).
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ignores that the written agreement that governs his Comcast service specifically authorized

Comcast Cable to obtain his consumer credit report and contains an integration clause that

replaces and supersedes any alleged agreements to the contrary; and (ii) his promissory estoppel

and unjust enrichment claims are a mere repackaging of his flawed breach of contract claim.

In short, even if allegations are all accepted as true, his claims are legally insufficient

and should be dismissed.

II. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff alleges the following facts many of which Defendants dispute, but all of which

are accepted as true for purposes of this Motion only:

Comcast Cable certain customers who lease

valuable equipment, Compl. ¶¶ 11-12;

Customers may bypass the credit check if they pay a refundable deposit, which Comcast

Cable credits , id. ¶ 14;

Plaintiff contacted Comcast Cable on March 19, 2017,

high-speed Internet service, id. ¶ 18;

Comcast Cable suggested that Plaintiff pay a

id. ¶ 19;

Comcast Cable

required if he was an Xfinity customer within the past six months id. ¶ 20;

To determine whether he

id. ¶ 20;

After Comcast Cable informed him that he did not qualify for this option, Plaintiff opted

to pay the $100 deposit, id. ¶ 21; and
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Comcast Cable nevertheless on Plaintiff that lowered his credit score

id. ¶¶ 22-23.

Plaintiff does not, however, allege any specific facts regarding munications

with any credit reporting agency, much less any that were allegedly used to

obtain his credit information. Nor does he allege facts that suggest that Comcast Corporation has

any relevant contacts with Illinois or any involvement with this case beyond its ownership of

Comcast Cable. See id. ¶ 9. Indeed, neither the operative allegations nor the proposed class

definition make any reference at all to Comcast Corporation. Id. ¶¶ 11-23 (operative

allegations); id. ¶¶ 24-35 (class allegations); id. ¶¶ 36-59 (Counts I through IV).

III. LEGAL STANDARD

entitled to relief claim upon which relief

pursuant to

Rule 12(b)(6), courts must accept well-pleaded facts as true and view them in the light most

favorable to the plaintiff. Tamayo v. Blagojevich, 526 F.3d 1074, 1081 (7th Cir. 2008). But it is

not enough to merely recite the elements of a claim. See Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S.

544, 555 (2007); Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).

Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555. In

other words, the allegat

Id. at 555, 570.

The Federal Rules also impose a heightened pleading standard for fraud that requires

plaintiffs to ircumstances constituting fraud Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).

The purpose of the rule is to protect the reputations of those who have been charged with fraud
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by enabling them to defend the charge rather than just deny that they did anything wrong. At a

fraud Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corp. Retiree Med. Benefits Trust v. Walgreen Co., 631 F.3d 436,

441-42 (7th Cir. 2011) (citation omitted).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. All Claims Against Comcast Corporation Should Be Dismissed

which, to be clear,

they do not they cannot be maintained against Comcast Corporation, which is a holding

company that does not directly market or provide cable services or equipment. That is clear

enough from , which in the very first paragraph notes that

service and equipment are provided by the and from

most recent 10-K, which

subsidiaries that -speed Internet and voice services . . . to residential

customers under the XFINITY brand. See Ex. 1, Declaration

Allegations , Ex. B at 1; Ex. 2, Form 10-K, Feb. 3, 2017 at 1.2

Plaintiff does not allege facts that suggest otherwise. On the contrary, he affirmatively

Comcast Cable, Compl. ¶ 9, and that it is Comcast Cable not Comcast Corporation that is

responsible for -speed Internet and voice services to residential customers under

Id. ¶ 10. The operative allegations refer to Comcast Cable specifically or,

2 The Court may take judicial notice of the content of public SEC filings. See George v.
Kraft Foods Global, Inc., 674 F. Supp. 2d 1031, 1044 (N.D. Ill. 2009) (Castillo, J.). Likewise,
the Court may consider IV.C below.
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in a handful 3 Indeed, the only specific references to

Comcast Corporation anywhere in the Complaint are in the caption and preamble, see id. at 1,

and the description of the parties, see id. ¶¶ 9-10. Not even the proposed class definition refers

to Comcast Corporation. See id.

territories who . . . paid Comcast Cable a security or other deposit in lieu of a credit check when

subscribing to Xfinity video, high-speed Internet and/or voice services and whose credit reports

Comcast Cable (emphasis added)). In short, Plaintiff cannot credibly

contend and in any event has not alleged that Comcast Corporation engaged in any conduct

that would support the claims against it. It follows that his claims against Comcast Corporation

must be dismissed.

B.

Plaintiff alleges that Comcast Cable violated Section 1681q of the FCRA, which

prohibits knowingly and willfully obtain[ing] information on a consumer from a consumer

reporting agency under false pretenses 15 U.S.C. § 1681q. In order to state a claim under

Section 1681q, a plaintiff must allege facts showing that the defendant

prete credit information from a consumer reporting agency.

See Swift v. First USA Bank, No. 98-8238, 1999 WL 965449, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 30, 1999)

(Kocoras, J.). The gist of such a claim is that the defendant told a consumer reporting agency

that it intended to use a consumer report for one reason but actually intended to use it for

3 Such allegations are obviously insufficient, especially in light of the rest of the pleading.
See, e.g., Bank of Am., N.A. v. Knight
Procedure set up a system of notice pleading. Each defendant is entitled to know what he or she
did that is asserted to be wrongful. A complaint based on a theory of collective responsibility
must ; Collins v. Kibort

; Balabanos
v. N. Am. Inv. Group, Ltd., 708 F. Supp. 1488, 1493 (N.D. Ill. 1988) (Aspen, J.) (holding that in
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another. In other words, the critical factual allegation is what the defendant said to the consumer

reporting agency, not what it said to the consumer. See id. That is clear enough from the plain

language of the statute, which even creates a private right of action for consumer reporting

agencies to which false pretenses were given.4

It is also clear from the decisions of various courts that have addressed this subsection.

For example, in Rylewicz v. Beaton Services, Ltd., 698 F. Supp. 1391 (N.D. Ill. 1988) (Williams,

user who falsely represents that he or she is obtaining a consumer report for a permissible

purpose while secretly seeking the report for an impermissible purpose is subject to liability

Id. at 1400. In reaching its

o their stated

permissible purpose, obtained the consumer report to facilitate the various and sundry acts of

Id. Similarly, in Ali v. Vikar Management Ltd., 994 F. Supp. 492

(S.D.N.Y. 1998), the court determined that the defendants violated Section 1681q by lying to a

[one plaintiff] in an effort to forward mail to her . . . but admitted later that its sole reason for

accessing information was based on its landlord- Id. at

499. See also Pappas v. Calumet City, 9 F. Supp. 2d 943, 945, 949-50 (N.D. Ill. 1998)

4 See obtains a consumer report from a consumer
reporting agency under false pretenses or knowingly without a permissible purpose shall be
liable to the consumer reporting agency. (emphasis added)). Indeed, the operative provision at
issue here only provides for fines and criminal penalties. See id.
knowingly and willfully obtains information on a consumer from a consumer reporting agency
under false pretenses shall be fined. Santangelo action also pending in this
Court, Judge Lee held that the consumer plaintiff did not even have a private right of action for

Order at 4 n.1, Santangelo v. Comcast Corp., No. 15-0293 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 8, 2016), ECF No. 62.



7

(Williams, J.) (finding that defendant acted with false pretenses when the credit reporting agency

actually sought in order to investigate misconduct by plai Maloney v. Chicago,

The courts in various jurisdictions

have found that a misrepresentation as to the purpose a consumer report is going to be put does

state a claim under [Sectio

Here, Plaintiff allege what

reason Comcast gave to a consumer reporting agency when it requested his credit information,

let alone whether that reason was false pretense. Nor could he, as he affirmatively alleged

the purpose for which Comcast Cable obtained his credit report to screen his creditworthiness.

See Compl. ¶

bureau data. ; id. ; see also

Mot. to Partially Strike, Ex. B § 2(h) YOU AUTHORIZE COMCAST TO MAKE

INQUIRIES AND TO RECEIVE INFORMATION ABOUT YOUR CREDIT

EXPERIENCE. (emphasis and typography in original)). This is not a false pretense.

Moreover, because s sound in fraud, Plaintiff must satisfy the

heightened pleading standard of Rule 9(b). See Dornhecker v. Ameritech Corp., 99 F. Supp. 2d

918, 928 (N.D. Ill. 2000) (Pallmeyer, J.). Conclusory statements such as

and omissions . . . Compl. ¶ 42, fall woefully

short of the e, and how .

Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corp. Retiree Med. Benefits Trust, 631 F.3d at 441-42 (citation omitted).

In short, Plaintiff has not satisfied even the general pleading standard of Rule 8, much less the

heightened pleading standard of Rule 9. It follows that this claim must be dismissed.
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C.

Plaintiff assert accept payment of a cash

deposit . . . in lieu of obtaining [ ] credit report[] Compl. ¶¶ 46, 48. That does not

state a claim for breach of contract and in fact is belied by the plain language of his written

contract.

To state a claim for breach of contract, a plaintiff must allege facts showing: (1) the

existence of a valid and enforceable contract; (2) substantial performance by the plaintiff; (3) a

breach by the defendant; and (4) resultant damages. TAS Distrib. Co. v. Cummins Engine Co.,

491 F.3d 625, 631 (7th Cir. 2007) (quoting W.W. Vincent & Co. v. First Colony Life Ins. Co.,

351 Ill App. 3d 752, 758, 814 N.E.2d 960, 967 (Ill. App. Ct. 2004)). Here, Plaintiff has ignored

the language of the written contract that governs his relationship with Comcast, namely the

Comcast Agreement for Residential Services (the Subscriber Agreem , which not only

authorizes the conduct complained of,5 but also supersedes alleged agreements to the contrary.6

Plaintiff ignores those provisions entirely, relying instead on an alleged oral representation that

he claims was made to him when he signed up for service. But that fails as a matter of law, as

7 and,

5 See Mot. to Partially Strike, Ex. B Our Right to Make Credit Inquiries. YOU
AUTHORIZE COMCAST TO MAKE INQUIRIES AND TO RECEIVE INFORMATION
ABOUT YOUR CREDIT EXPERIENCE FROM OTHERS, TO ENTER THIS
INFORMATION IN YOUR FILE, AND TO DISCLOSE THIS INFORMATION
CONCERNING YOU TO APPROPRIATE THIRD PARTIES FOR REASONABLE
BUSINESS PURPOSES. (emphasis and typography in original)).
6 See id. rated by reference
constitute the entire agreement and understanding between you and Comcast with respect to the
subject matter of this Agreement, and replace any and all prior written or verbal agreements.
(emphasis added)).
7 See, e.g., Ziolkowski v. Caterpillar, Inc., 996 F.2d 1220, 1993 WL 230140, at *2 (7th Cir.
June 25, 1993)

M.T. Bonk Co. v. Milton Bradley Co., 945 F.2d 1404, 1407 (7th Cir. 1991))); Exipno v. Advo,
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even if they did, any such oral agreement would have been superseded by the integration clause

in his Subscriber Agreement.8

The Court need not wait until discovery to account for the Subscriber

on this claim. On the contrary, courts may consider indisputably authentic documents that are

referenced in or central to a complaint such as a contract in a breach of contract case without

converting a motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment. See, e.g., Santana v. Cook

Cty. Bd. of Review, 679 F.3d 614, 619 (7th Cir. 2012); Teirney v. Vahle, 304 F.3d 734, 738 (7th

Cir. 2002); Rao v. Abbott Labs., No. 12-8014, 2013 WL 1768697, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 24, 2013)

(Der-Yeghiayan, J.); Grady v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, No. 11-1531, 2012 WL 929928, at

*3 n.2 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 19, 2012) (Dow, J.). Doing so evad[ing]

dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) simply by failing to attach to his complaint a document that

proved that his trying to do here. Teirney,

304 F.3d at 738; see also In re marchFIRST Inc., 589 F.3d 901, 905 (7th Cir. 2009) y

including in the complaint no triggering facts that occurred during this window of time, CIT s

complaint establishes an impenetrable defense to its claims that would have to be contradicted

for CIT to prevail on the merits. It follows that this claim can and should be dismissed here

and now.

Inc., No. 95-0073, 1997 WL 176578, at *1 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 4, 1997) (Gettleman, J.) (explaining
that, unless all material terms are stated, there is no enforceable contract).
8 See MAN Roland, Inc. v. Quantum Color Corp., 57 F. Supp. 2d 568, 572 (N.D. Ill. 1999)
(Alesia, J.)

Baxter Healthcare Corp. v. O.R. Concepts, Inc., 69 F.3d 785, 790 (7th Cir. 1995) (further
citation omitted))). After all, the whole point of an integration clause is to ensure that a writing

Vigortone AG Prods., Inc. v. PM AG Prods., Inc., 316

prevents a party to a contract from basing a claim of breach of contract on agreements or
understandings, whether oral or written, that the parties had reached during the negotiations that
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D. Should Be Dismissed

Plaintiff alleges that promise

pa[ying] the cash deposit[] Comcast Cable had requested. See Compl. ¶¶ 51-52, 54.

This claim therefore concerns not the act of checking his credit, but the act of taking his deposit.

See id

Cable by, inter alia, requiring the return of the deposit[] . This claim fails as a

Stewart v. Nw. Mut. Life Ins. Co., 180 F. Supp. 3d 566, 575 (N.D. Ill. 2016) (Kennelly, J.). Thus,

same performance which supplies the conside Janda v. U.S. Cellular

Corp., 2011 IL App (1st) 103552, 961 N.E.2d 425, 444 (2011) (quoting Prentice v. UDC

Advisory Servs., 271 Ill. App. 3d 505, 512, 648 N.E.2d 146, 150 (1995)). In other words,

promissory estoppel is intende

would be unenforceable under conventional principles of contract law. When there is an express

contract governing the relationship out of which the promise emerged, and no issue of

consider All-Tech

Telecom, Inc. v. Amway Corp., 174 F.3d 862, 869 (7th Cir. 1999); see also Prentice, 271 Ill.

App. 3d at 516, 648 N.E.2d at 153.

Here, the Subscriber Agreement not only authorizes Comcast Cable to make credit

inquiries, but also authorizes it to collect refundable deposits:

REFUNDABLE DEPOSIT
We may require you to pay a refundable deposit when you activate the Service(s),
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if you add XFINITY Equipment and/or Service(s) or if you fail to pay any
amounts when they are due. If we disconnect your Service(s) or are otherwise
required under applicable law to refund the deposit, we shall within forty-five
(45) days or as otherwise specified by applicable law return a sum equal to the
deposit(s) you paid (without interest unless otherwise required by law) minus any
amounts due on your account (including without limitation, any amounts owed for
the Service(s) or for any XFINITY Equipment that is damaged, altered, or not
returned).

Mot. to Partially Strike, Ex. B § 3 (emphasis and typography in original). It follows that this

claim should be dismissed because it is an attempt to alter or avoid the terms of that agreement.

See All-Tech Telecom, Inc., 174 F.3d at 869; Prudential Ins. Co. of Am. v. Clark Consulting, Inc.,

548 F. Supp. 2d 619, 622 (N.D. Ill. 2008) (Castillo, J.); Llames v. JP Morgan Chase & Co., No.

11-5899, 2012 WL 1032910, at *5 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 23, 2012) (Zagel, J.).9

Moreover, promissory estoppel in order to

Jackson v. Bank of N.Y., 62 F. Supp. 3d 802, 820 (N.D. Ill. 2014) (Dow, J.)

(internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Here, Plaintiff alleges that this alleged injustice

would be remedied by refunding the deposit, Compl. ¶ 53, but ignores that his deposit has

already been refunded, Salcedo Decl. ¶ 25, and also admits that the deposit would have been

automatically refunded in March 2018. See Compl. ¶ 14. It follows that this claim should be

dismissed as well.

E. just Enrichment Claim Should Be Dismissed

Plaintiff alleges that Comcast Cable

56-58. onduct is governed by a

9 The same theory applies and compels dismissal even if the court does not consider the

interaction. See, e.g., Chi. Faucet Shoppe, Inc. v. Nestlé Waters N. Am. Inc., 24 F. Supp. 3d 750,
764-65 (N.D. Ill. 2014) (Tharp, J.) (dismissing unjust enrichment claim after finding that parties
conduct gave rise to contractual relationship, the subject matter of which encompassed the unjust
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- courts to imply the existence

of a Prudential Ins. Co. of Am.,

548 F. Supp. 2d at 622 relationship is governed by contract, they

may not bring a claim of unjust enrichment unless the claim falls outside of

Llames, 2012 WL 1032910 at *5 (citing Prudential Ins. Co. of Am., 548 F. Supp. 2d at 622).

When there is no dispute that a valid contract governs the subject matter in dispute, unjust

enrichment claims fail even if they are pled See, e.g., Hickman v. Wells

Fargo Bank N.A., 683 F. Supp. 2d 779, 797 (N.D. Ill. 2010) (St. Eve, J.). Here, the Subscriber

Agreement authorizes Comcast to obtain consumer reports, see supra, and Section 3 authorizes it

bers] activate the Service(s). Mot. to Partially

Strike, Ex. B § 3. It follows that this claim is simply an attempt to alter or avoid the terms of that

written agreement.

Second, this claim fails because Comcast Cable was not enriched, unjustly or otherwise.

that benefit violates fundamental principles

of justice, Prudential Ins. Co. of Am., 548 F. Supp. 2d at 622.

Here, Plaintiff alleges that reducing

the credit risk posed by [his] account[] if any without the need for a credit check

He further alleges that i

Id. ¶ 57. But Comcast Cable acted in accordance

with the Subscriber Agreement in conducting a credit check and collecting a deposit. See supra.
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money or other property to another who promises to preserve it or to use it and re

see Deposit, Dictionary (10th ed. 2014), and Plaintiff has not alleged that Comcast

has either refused to return or will permanently retain the deposit. Nor could he, as the deposit

has already been refunded, Salcedo Decl. ¶ 25, and he admits that it would have automatically

been refunded in 2018. See supra. Thus, the deposit canno

for purposes of this claim because its retention by Comcast did not harm Plaintiff. Thus,

also

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants respectfully request that the Court grant their

Motion and dismiss claims with prejudice pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6).
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